Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

4-23-2018

Bergeman v. Select Portfolio Servicing Appellant's Brief Dckt. 45338

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

COMES NOW, the above-named appellant by and through his counsel of record, Robert K. Beck of BECK & ASSOCIATES, P.C., and hereby files his initial memorandum as a result of the dismissal of his complaint filed in the District Court of the Seventh Judicial District in and for the County of Bonneville (Case No. CV-2017-1430), the Honorable Bruce L. Pickett presiding. The appellant believes that the District Court errored in failing to apply the correct standard of review as required when the defendants in the underlying case filed a Rule 12 (b) (6) motion to dismiss.

STATEMENT OF APPEALABILITY

The plaintiff/appellant filed his initial complaint in the abovementioned District Court on March 9, 2017. This complaint outlines various causes of action against the defendants as listed in the complaint. The complaint was amended (and filed) by the plaintiff on or about April 10, 2017 and again on April 21, 2017. Basically, the complaint sought to set aside a non-judicial foreclosure sale that occurred on February 23, 2017 as conducted by the co-defendant/respondent, SELECT PORTFOLIO SERVICING (hereafter referred to as "SPS"). Another co-defendant/respondent, MOHAMED ELABED (hereafter referred to as "Mr. Elabed") is identified in the complaint as the purchaser of the real property at the aforesaid non-judicial foreclosure sale on February 23rd. Mr. Elabed also filed a motion to dismiss the abovementioned complaint. The other parties as named in the complaint were never served as the complaint (and amendments hereto) was dismissed by the Court prior the service of the summons and complaint upon these additional parties.

Following the filing of the above complaint in District Court, the two defendants (as mentioned above) appeared and filed a joint, Rule 12 (b) (6) motion to dismiss. The Court entered its memorandum decision and order dismissing the complaint as filed against SPS and Mr. Elabed on June 5, 2017. The plaintiff/appellant filed his notice of appeal on July 13, 2017. Although this Court initially entered an order conditionally dismissing the appeal on September 8, 2017, the District Court entered another order of judgement on September 21, 2017 and this Court allowed the case to proceed pursuant to the notice of appeal as filed on July 13th.

The appellant herein strongly believes that the Court has utilized a standard of review that it wrongfully applied to the facts as stated in the complaint filed in District Court. Furthermore, the District Court has allowed the defendants herein to misstate and misconstrue the relevant factual issues that should be considered when it issued its order of dismissal. Therefore, appellant concludes that the District Court has committed gross error as explained below.

PROCEDURAL HISTORY

Although this case may appear to be a simple question of whether the Court applied the correct standard of review as a result of a motion to dismiss as filed by the above defendants, it has a complex procedural history that should be fully discussed. The plaintiff filed his complaint in the Bonneville County District Court within three weeks of the aforementioned non-judicial foreclosure sale. The first motion to be filed by any party in this case was a motion to consolidate as a result of Mr. Elabed filing an eviction proceeding in the Magistrate Court in Bonneville County (Case No. CV-17-46 – before Magistrate Judge Jason Walker). This motion to consolidate was filed on April 10, 2017.

Following the filing of this motion by the appellant, Mr. Elabed (through his attorney -Mr. Steve Taggart) filed an objection to the motion to consolidate and a motion to dismiss on or about April 12, 2017. Mr. Taggart did not file a notice of appearance although he did complain at one point (during a hearing) that he was never served with a copy of the complaint (even though he filed a meaningful motion to dismiss which strongly suggests he had fully reviewed any and all terms of any complaint or amended complaint). Thereafter, the Court held a hearing on the motion to consolidate (along with objections and other motions made by Mr. Elabed) on April 17, 2017. As a result of this hearing, the Court reset the hearing on the motion to consolidate and motion to dismiss as filed by Mr. Elabed for May 4, 2017. Part of the reason to vacate this hearing on the motion to dismiss was the Court's misperception that the initial complaint (or any amendments thereto) should somehow be served upon Mr. Elabed when he was well aware of the provisions of the complaint by virtue of many statements made in his motion to dismiss (and also made in hearings before the District Court and Magistrate Judge - Jason Walker) and in the complaint for eviction in the Magistrate Court (see Affidavit of Robert K. Beck dated May 2, 2017).

Following the unnecessary service of the complaint upon Mr. Elabed (and apparently as a result of Mr. Elabed's contact with Mr. Eli Watkins – co-defendants attorney), SPS (without formal service upon it) filed a Rule 12 (b) (6) motion on April 27, 2017. The plaintiff responded by filing a motion to vacate a hearing scheduled by Mr. Elabed on May 4, 2017. The Court, agreed that the hearing should be vacated and issued its order dated May 5, 2017. Thereafter, all parties that had filed any meaningful pleading were able to file briefs and present oral argument at a hearing on May 18, 2017. This

hearing transcript has been submitted to the Supreme Court and is part of the most pertinent records of the case at this point. Many statements made at this hearing suggest the inability of the defendants and the District Court to focus on the appropriate standard of review and the relevant issues of this case.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The appellant will discuss the pertinent facts as stated in his amended complaint (dated April 21, 2017) and memoranda filed with the District Court as included in the record on appeal. Count One of the complaint states as follows:

16. When the plaintiff herein has made attempts to discuss curing the above alleged default of mortgage payments, the defendants have employed numerous tactics, excuses and misrepresentations in an intentional effort to proceed with the above mentioned foreclosure and issue a bogus trustee's deed to co-defendant Mohamed Elabed. These tactics and excuses include, but are not limited to, the following acts:

- a. Refusing to discuss the current status of the mortgage foreclosure with anyone other than the executor of the estate of Karen Hansen even though the executor's deed had been issued to the plaintiff herein.
- b. Refusing to discuss the current status of the mortgage foreclosure even when provided a copy of the abovementioned power of attorney designating Jerry Bergman as an appropriate agent for the plaintiff herein.
- c. Indicating, after numerous phone calls from Jerry Bergeman, that the defendants would accept a certain payment, including penalties and interest, from the plaintiff -- then refusing to accept a payment in the approximate amount of \$16,000.00 that was wired transferred to the defendants prior to the wrongful non-judicial foreclosure and sale conducted on February 23, 2017 in the Bonneville County Courthouse.
- d. Ignoring efforts by plaintiff's attorney to discuss the above payment and allowing the non-judicial foreclosure to proceed in spite of misrepresentations made by the defendants that the sale would be vacated.
- e. Continuing to send mortgage statements to the plaintiff (and addressed to the Estate of Karen Hansen) in which the defendants made misrepresentations that in the event the plaintiff made a mortgage payment, that the non-judicial foreclosure sale could and would be

vacated, regardless of the sale held at the Bonneville County Courthouse on or about February 23, 2017.

- f. Accepting a payment from the plaintiff in the amount of \$19,422.87.00 and further admitting that the non-judicial foreclosure sale was vacated and invalidated by virtue of numerous payments made to the defendants herein.
- g. Holding conversations with co-defendant, Mohamed Elabed, in which the defendants have mislead Mr. Elabed and attempted to misrepresent that the non-judicial foreclosure sale held on or about February 23, 2017 is valid.
- h. Failing to admit to co-defendant, Mohamed Elabed, that these defendants did in fact receive a meaningful payment prior to the non-judicial foreclosure sale on or about February 23, 2017 and further refusing to admit that these defendants have received other payments from the plaintiff herein.
- i. Attempting to conspire, control and coerce co-defendant, Mohamed Elabed, into believing that he has made a valid purchase of real estate through a bogus non-judicial foreclosure sale.

These respondents admit that they are relying on the language as quoted in the Deed

of Trust which allows them to foreclose on the subject property unless the borrower

complies with the following terms and conditions:

... Borrower (a) pays Lender all sums which then would be due under this Security Instrument and the Note as if no acceleration had occurred; (b) cures any default of any other covenants or agreements; (c) pays all expenses incurred in enforcing this Security Instrument, including, but not limited to, reasonable attorneys' fees; and (d) takes such action as Lender may reasonably require to assure that the lien of this Security Instrument shall continue unchanged. (Memorandum in Support of Select Portfolio Servicing's Motion to Dismiss – Page 6)

When the appellant/plaintiff filed the above complaint, it stated that the plaintiff is contesting any and all problems that may arise as a result of what plaintiff believed to be a bogus non-judicial foreclosure proceeding as pursued by the named defendants therein. The co-defendant, Mr. Elabed, as noted in the abovementioned complaint for eviction, sought to improve his chances for claiming title and possession by virtue of filing his complaint for eviction even though he was aware that the plaintiff herein had filed a complaint in the District Court for Bonneville County.

As a result of the complaint for eviction as filed by Mr. Elabed, the plaintiff filed a motion to vacate any eviction hearings and a motion to consolidate any and all claims as made by Mr. Elabed. The Honorable Jason Walker, Magistrate Judge, held a hearing on Thursday, April 6, 2017 which was attended by the parties as named (and unnamed) in the complaint for eviction. During the hearing, Mr. Elabed, through his attorney, attempted to persuade Judge Walker that he should grant an order for eviction regardless of concerns as expressed by Judge Walker that he should perhaps defer an action to grant an order for eviction. Mr. Elabed suggested that Judge Walker totally ignore the plaintiff's complaint as filed District Court. It would appear that the abovementioned defendant was attempting to suggest that Judge Walker grant some form of order based on Mr. Elabed's interpretation of the final amended complaint that outlines the basic cause of action herein.

Although the above respondents will likely suggest that they, in good faith, attempted to educate the District Court on issues pertinent to the motion to dismiss, it would appear that they agreed (along with the District Court) that no facts would be considered other than those facts alleged in the pleadings. When dealing with various motions to strike as filed by the appellant and SPS at the hearing on May 18, 2017, the discussions as held by all parties led the court to conclude as follows:

THE COURT: Let's deal with the motion to strike ... The statements made in those pleadings... this is a 12 (b) (6) motion. We're

going to deal with the facts that are in the pleadings, not that have been filed in addition to those.

* * * *

So under Rule 12 (d) it talks about if on a motion under Rule 12 (b) [(]6[)] matters outside the pleadings are presented to and not excluded by the court, the motion must be treated as one for summary judgment.

It talks about if I allow that, then I have to give reasonable opportunity to present all the information that is pertinent to the motions.

Based upon that, the Court is going to exclude those statements, just because they're not relevant to a 12 (b) (6) motion. **The fact that there** was allegedly some funds that were submitted later, for a 12 (b) (6) motion, it, frankly, doesn't matter. So the Court is going to exclude those. (Hearing Transcript – May 18, 2017 – page 6, lines 4-24) [emphasis added].

When referring to the pleadings that the District Court would consider in granting or denying any motion to dismiss, it specifically stated there were some funds submitted later and that it would exclude those statements. The final amended complaint as partially quoted above does state that SPS did accept a payment in the amount of \$19,422.87 following the non-judicial foreclosure sale on February 23, 2017 and that the agents of SPS did agree to vacate the non-judicial foreclosure sale based on the payments as specifically made. Regardless of the standard of review as may have been correctly stated by the Court, it granted the motion to dismiss regardless of the admissions of the various unidentified employees or agents of SPS as stated in the amended complaint.

SPS made several statements during the hearing that suggest the District Court ignored the factual statements as made in the amended complaint and that the Court was persuaded by the mis-statements as made by SPS at the hearing on May 18, 2017:

MR WATKINS:Your honor, you can cure a default. If you haven't paid your mortgage – in this case for several months – you can cure the default by paying the required amount that's sent to you.

And according to the deed of trust, which is Exhibit A to the Watkins declaration, which the Court can, of course, consider without converting this to Rule 56, because it's referenced extensively in the complaint, they had to give any payment five days prior to the foreclosure sale....

* * * * *

Second, what they allege is . . . we paid quote, 'approximately \$16,000.'

THE COURT: \$16,000.

MR WATKINS: ... frankly, I don't know if they even said they paid it so much as they say they were informed by somebody at SPS that they would accept approximately \$16,000.

THE COURT: I think the claim says wired."

MR. BECK: Correct.

MR WATKINS: That they wired ? Okay. So they say that they wired \$16,000. (Hearing Transcript – May 18, 2017 – page 35, lines 22-25; page 36, lines 1-25) [emphasis added].

As mentioned above by SPS, the complaint as written easily can be construed in favor of the non-moving party and that the above referenced \$16,000.00 was paid to SPS as directed by the agents of SPS. However, the complaint does not in any way admit that the \$16,000.00 was not timely paid, as suggested by SPS, prior to the non-judicial foreclosure sale on February 23, 2017.

Although the complaint says that the appellant made another payment in the amount of \$19,422.87.00 to SPS, the Court refused to construe this fact, once again, in favor of the non-moving party. Part of the reason for this unrealistic application of the

standard of review by the District Court is understood better if we review other statements

of Mr. Watkins on behalf of his client, SPS:

MR. WATKINS: ... [T]hey keep bringing up this idea that SPS isn't talking to them. In their second amended complaint, they admit that they did not assume the loan. That [the mortgage bills] weren't going to the [Darin Bergeman]. They were going to the estate. That's who's on the account.

SPS, as a company, we can't just talk to whoever calls us. I think the Court would appreciate the fact that I cannot call the Court's bank and say, 'Tell me about the Court's Mortgage. Tell me what the payments amounts are. Tell me when the due dates are of these payments.'

And so the idea that we didn't talk to some people who were calling us, who we have no record of, doesn't have an argument. And it certainly has no bearing on whether or not there was a fraud here... (Hearing Transcript – May 18, 2017 – page 38, lines 15-25; page 39, lines 1-8)

The above statements as made by SPS acknowledge that it understood the

relationship between the management of SPS and the employees of the company who were charged with the duty of allowing a debtor to cure a mortgage that was in default by virtue of contacting the agents of SPS and providing a payment pursuant to instructions as directed by the said employee of SPS. The Court virtually admits that it misunderstood this point when it agrees that a supervisor of employees is guilty of negligent supervision when said employer "fails to exercise due care to protect third parties from the foreseeable tortuous acts of an employee." . (District Court Opinion and Order . . . Motion to Dismiss – page 4). Somehow the District Court has made a glaring error by virtue of participating in the misleading comments of SPS during the hearing on May 18th when it concludes there is no employer/employee relationship between Mr. Elabed and SPS. It ignores the clear statements as made in the complaint with respect to the managers and employees of SPS and concludes that there is no negligent supervision as between SPS and Mr. Elabed

when it states:

... Plaintiff has failed to allege that a recognized legal duty existed between himself, Defendant SPS and/or Defendant Elabed as required. Not only was there no duty alleged, but Plaintiff admits that he did not assume the mortgage of Karen Hansen after her death. Defendant has also failed to allege that the tortious acts of the defendants were foreseeable by a third party or the other named defendants ... (District Court Opinion and Order ... Motion to Dismiss – pages 4-5).

ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

- Whether District Court has committed errors of fact and law by virtue of issuing an order that ignores the specific statement of a cause of action as described in the Complaint and the terms of the deed of trust as duly quoted above when it granted the motion to dismiss.
- 2. Whether the District Court ignored the appropriate standard of review when it denied the motion to consolidate as filed by the appellant/plaintiff.

ATTORNEY FEES ON APPEAL

The appellant believes that the District Court and the above co-defendants have committed gross errors of fact and law in this case. The District Court's memorandum decision and order contain a gross misapplication of the facts and the law that will be explained in the arguments below. These co-defendants are well aware of their efforts to mislead the District Court and the appellant believes that his attorney fees should be reimbursed as a result of the necessity of filing this appeal. It is clear that the District Court, and these defendants, have ignored the appropriate standard of review in denying the motion to consolidate and in also granting the motion to dismiss.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

A. Rule 12 (b) (6) Motion to Dismiss

The standard for reviewing a dismissal for failure to state a cause of action pursuant to I.R.C.P. 12(b)(6) is the same as the standard based upon the grant of a motion for summary judgment. The non-moving party is entitled to have all inferences from the record and pleadings viewed in his favor, and only then may the question be asked whether a claim for relief has been stated. *Miles v. Idaho Power*, 116 Idaho 635, 637, 778 P.2d 757, 759 (1989).

A motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6) for failure to state a claim must be read in conjunction with Rule 8(a), which sets forth the requirements for pleading a claim and calls for "a short and plain statement of the claim showing that the pleader is entitled to relief" and a demand for relief. *Harper v. Harper*, 122 Idaho 535, 536, 835 P.2d 1346, 1347 (Idaho App.,1992) (citing I.R.C.P. 8(a)(1), (2)). As with a motion under Rule 8(a), every reasonable intendment will be made to sustain a complaint against a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss. *Idaho Comm'n on Human Rights v. Campbell*, 95 Idaho 215, 217, 506 P.2d 112, 114 (1973). A court may grant a motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim under Rule 12(b)(6) only "when it appears beyond doubt that the plaintiff can prove no set of facts in support of [the] claim which would entitle [the plaintiff] to relief." *Id. Harper, Supra* (citing *Wackerli v. Martindale*, 82 Idaho 400, 405, 353 P.2d 782, 787 (1960); *Ernst v. Hemenway and Moser, Co.*, 120 Idaho 941, 946, 821 P.2d 996, 1001 (Ct.App.1991). It need not appear

that the plaintiff can obtain the particular relief prayed for, as long as the court can ascertain that some relief may be granted. *Harper, supra* citing WRIGHT & MILLER, FEDERAL PRACTICE AND PROCEDURE § 1357, at 339 (1990).

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