Uldaho Law

## Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

---

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

---

5-21-2018

### **Bergeman v. Select Portfolio Servicing Respondent's Brief Dckt. 45338**

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

#### V. ARGUMENT

**A. Bergeman has waived each of his assignments of error on appeal because he fails to support his claims with authority or argument.**

Bergeman contends the district court erred in granting SPS and Elabed’s motions to dismiss and in denying his motion to consolidate. AOB 10. But Bergeman offers no analysis and

cites no authority to support his claims of error as required by I.A.R. 35(a)(6). *See* AOB at 16-20. As a result, he has waived those issues on appeal. *See Woods v. Sanders*, 150 Idaho 53, 58, 244 P.3d 197, 202 (2010) (finding I.A.R. 35(a)(6) was not satisfied when party failed to support issue on appeal with propositions of law or authority). “Where an appellant fails to assert his assignments of error with particularity and to support his position with sufficient authority, those assignments of error are too indefinite to be heard by the Court.” *Bach v. Bagley*, 148 Idaho 784, 790, 229 P.3d 1146, 1152 (2010). It follows that a party waives an issue cited on appeal “if either authority or argument is lacking, not just if both are lacking.” *Bolognese v. Forte*, 153 Idaho 857, 866, 292 P.3d 248, 257 (2012) (citation omitted).

Bergeman’s opening brief is a general attack on the district court’s findings and conclusions and nothing more. *See* AOB at 16-20. In dismissing the second amended complaint, the district court analyzed each cause of action pled, and their elements, against the factual allegations of the complaint, and found the allegations did not support claims on which relief could be granted. R. 105-111. On appeal, Bergeman does not explain how the district court erred in applying the standard for dismissal under Rule 12(b)(6). *See* AOB at 11-12, 16-20. He does not even cite the elements of misrepresentation, negligent supervision, trespass, or intentional or negligent infliction of emotional distress or attempt to analyze how each claim’s elements relate to his factual allegations. *See* AOB at 16-20. His opening brief does not mention the trespass or emotional distress claims at all. *See* AOB 1-21.

Bergeman’s contention that the district court erred in denying his motion to consolidate suffers from the same lack of argument and particularity. I.R.C.P. 42(a)(2) states that the trial

court “may ... consolidate the actions” if the actions “involve a common question of law or fact.” The district court considered whether this action and Elabed’s eviction action shared common questions of law and fact and decided they did not. R. 98-100. While recognizing that standard in his opening brief, *see* AOB 12-16, Bergeman does not apply it and does not present any analysis of the standard or how it relates to the facts of this case, *see* AOB 20.

Because Bergeman fails to support his assignments of error with argument or authority, those claims of error are too indefinite to address. As such, he has waived the issues raised on appeal. *See Bach*, 148 Idaho at 790, 229 P.3d at 1152 (refusing to consider bulk of Bach’s claims on appeal because he failed to support them with relevant argument and authority). The Court should affirm the district court for this reason alone.

**B. Bergeman has not shown the trial court erred in dismissing his second amended complaint for failure to state a claim upon which relief could be granted.**

**1. Bergeman alleged no facts that the foreclosure of the property was wrongful and no cause of action that would set aside the foreclosure sale.**

Even if Bergeman has not waived his assignments of error, he still has not demonstrated any error by the district court. In his second amended complaint, Bergeman sought monetary damages, to set aside the foreclosure sale, and to stop Elabed’s attempted eviction action—all based on common law claims of misrepresentation, negligent supervision, trespass, and emotional distress. R. 40-45. Each cause of action was premised on the underlying assumption that the foreclosure sale was “wrongful.” *See generally id.* Bergeman, however, did not plead facts to support a wrongful foreclosure.

Under Idaho law, an action for wrongful foreclosure is equated with a cause of action for conversion. *See Houpt v. Wells Fargo Bank, Nat'l Ass'n*, 160 Idaho 181, 189–90, 370 P.3d 384, 392–93 (2016) (citations omitted). A lender cannot foreclose a mortgaged property except as provided by statute, and the failure to comply with the statutory procedures gives rise to a conversion action. *Peterson v. Hailey Nat. Bank*, 51 Idaho 427, 431-32, 6 P.2d 145, 147 (1931). In that situation, the lender becomes liable to the borrower just as anyone else who converts property. *Id.* Thus, the remedy is not the return of the property but damages measured by the value of the property at the time and place of sale. *See id.* at 433, 6 P.2d at 147.

It necessarily follows that Bergeman cannot set aside the foreclosure sale, or halt Elabed's eviction action, even if the sale was wrongful. But even more problematic for Bergeman is that he pled no facts to support a claim of wrongful foreclosure. Other than making conclusory allegations that the foreclosure sale was “wrongful,” “bogus,” and “invalid,” Bergeman did not allege any facts to show that any defendant failed to comply with the recording, notice, or sale requirements of Idaho Code §§ 45-1505 and 45-1506. *See* R. 39-44 (¶¶ 11-21). At most, he alleged that the defendants would not answer telephone calls or allow him to cure the default of a mortgage loan he was not party to. *Id.*

To be sure, based on the second amended complaint, Bergeman had no rights under the deed of trust or the mortgage loan. He admitted that his mother granted WMC Mortgage a deed of trust to secure the loan, R. 36-37 (¶ 2), 53, 55; that following her death he never assumed the loan, R. 39 (¶ 13); that the loan remained in the name of the Estate of Karen Hansen, *id.*; that he was not the executor of the estate, *see* R. 36 (¶ 1), 48-49; that the loan was in default at the time

of the foreclosure sale, AOB 9, 16-17, 18, 19; and that the property was sold to Elabed at the foreclosure sale, R. 37-38 (¶ 6). Following the foreclosure sale, any rights the estate (or Bergeman) had in the property were extinguished. *See* Idaho Code § 45-1508 (“A sale made by a trustee under this act shall foreclose and terminate all interest in the property covered by the trust deed of all persons to whom notice is given under section 45-1506, Idaho Code ....”).

In sum, Bergeman did not allege facts to show the property was wrongfully taken from his possession. *See Houpt*, 160 Idaho at 190, 370 P.3d at 393 (stating conversion requires distinct act of wrongfully asserted dominion over another’s property). Having admitted that he did not assume the mortgage loan and that the loan was in default, Bergeman did not state a claim for wrongful foreclosure, and he cannot set aside the foreclosure sale or stop Elabed’s attempted eviction through this action. Bergeman’s failure to allege a wrongful foreclosure also undermines his remaining claims seeking money damages.

**2. The misrepresentation claim fails because Bergeman did not plead the factual circumstances constituting each element of fraud with particularity.**

SPS now turns to Bergeman’s common law claims and request for damages. In the second amended complaint, Bergeman asserted a cause of action for misrepresentation based on allegations that “the defendants” refused to discuss the foreclosure with him or his father, indicated they would accept “a certain payment” but then refused, stated in mortgage statements that the foreclosure sale would be vacated if he “made a mortgage payment,” and misled Elabed into believing the foreclosure sale was valid. R. 40-42 (¶ 16). The district court dismissed the claim because Bergeman failed to plead with particularity facts showing the defendants’

knowledge that the alleged statements were false, their intent that he rely on the statements, his right to rely on the statements, or how he was injured. R. 105-107.

The district court did not err. Accepting Bergeman's allegations as true, he did not state a cause of action for misrepresentation. The claim has nine elements: (1) a statement of fact, (2) its falsity, (3) its materiality, (4) the speaker's knowledge of its falsity, (5) the speaker's intent that there be reliance, (6) the hearer's ignorance of the falsity of the statement, (7) reliance by the hearer, (8) the hearer's right to rely on the statement (*i.e.*, justifiable reliance), and (9) resultant injury. *Jenkins v. Boise Cascade Corp.*, 141 Idaho 233, 239, 108 P.3d 380, 386 (2005). The absence of just one element precludes recovery. *Id.* Further, Bergeman must support the existence of each element "by pleading with particularity the factual circumstances constituting fraud." *See id.* (citation omitted); *see also* I.R.C.P. 9(b).

The failure to plead each element with specificity is grounds for dismissal. *See Jenkins*, 141 Idaho at 239-40, 108 P.3d at 386-87. *Jenkins* illustrates this point. In that case, Jenkins asserted a claim of fraud related to the termination of his employment. *Id.* at 237, 108 P.3d at 384. The district court dismissed the claim because Jenkins failed to plead the fraud elements with specificity, and the Idaho Supreme Court affirmed. *Id.* at 239-40, 108 P.3d at 386-87. Both Jenkins's original and amended complaints only generally alleged that the defendant was involved in several false accusations and statements. *Id.* In particular, there were no facts alleged that showed Jenkin's reliance on any representations made to him; in fact he admitted that he knew many of the statements made were false and did nothing about it. *Id.* at 240, 108 P.3d at 387.

Bergeman's second amended complaint also failed to specify what factual circumstances constitute fraud. His allegations that the defendants failed to discuss the status of the foreclosure sale is not actionable because it involves no statement at all. *See* R. 41 (¶ 16(a), (b)). His allegation that the defendants indicated they would accept "a certain payment" does not specify which defendant made the statement, when the statement was made, how much should be paid, that the defendant knew the statement was false, that the defendant intended for him to rely on it, or that he did right rely on it. *See* R. 41 (¶ 16(c), (d)). His allegation that the defendants stated the foreclosure sale would be vacated if he "made a mortgage payment" also does not specify who the speaker was, that the defendant knowingly made a false statement or intended that he rely on the statement, or that he could rely on it. *See* R. 41 (¶ 16(e), (f)).

That Bergeman did not adequately plead the elements of fraud is perhaps best shown by his failure to allege with particularity his right to rely on any of the statements purportedly made by the defendants. It is essential that the hearer's reliance on the representation be justified. *Stewart Title of Idaho, Inc. v. Nampa Land Title Co.*, 110 Idaho 330, 332, 715 P.2d 1000, 1002 (1986). Bergeman's complaint showed that his reliance was not justified. In particular, he acknowledged that he did not assume the mortgage loan and was not the executor of his mother's estate, and that the loan was in default. *See* R. 39 (¶ 13). To be sure, the complaint showed that the Estate of Karen Hansen was the borrower on the loan, that the estate was 745 days delinquent on the loan, that a total of \$17,932.87 was due, and that the borrower "must pay this amount to bring your loan current." R. 39 (¶ 13), 53-63. Under those allegations, Bergeman had no reason to believe the alleged statements that he could cure the default of the mortgage loan.

Finally, Bergeman's claim that the defendants committed fraud by misleading Elabed also fails. *See* R. 42 (§ 16(g)-(i)). Idaho does not recognize third party fraud in circumstances such as these. *See Beco Constr. Co. v. Bannock Paving Co.*, 118 Idaho 463, 468, 797 P.2d 863, 868 (1990). In *Beco Construction*, the alleged misrepresentation was not directed to the plaintiff. *Id.* As a result, the Court found the plaintiff failed to establish that it was expected to rely on the statement (element 5), that it was ignorant of the statement's falsity (element 6), that it relied on the statement (element 7), or that it had a right to rely on the statement (element 8). *Id.* The same is true here. Since Bergeman was not the hearer, he has not alleged facts to support a claim of misrepresentation based on statements the defendants made to Elabed.

In sum, the Court should affirm the district court's dismissal of Bergeman's cause of action for misrepresentation. Because he failed to plead the factual circumstances constituting each element with particularity, he did not state a claim upon which relief can be granted.

**3. The negligent supervision claim fails because Bergeman did not allege facts to show that SPS owed a duty to protect him from an employee's dangerous propensities.**

The district court also correctly dismissed Bergeman's cause of action for negligent supervision. A negligent supervision claim is based on the supervisor's negligence in failing to exercise due care to protect third parties from the foreseeable tortious acts of an employee. *Rausch v. Pocatello Lumber Co.*, 135 Idaho 80, 86, 14 P.3d 1074, 1080 (Ct. App. 2000). To establish the claim, a plaintiff must show the defendant owed a legal duty to conform to a standard of conduct, a breach of that duty, a causal connection between the allegedly negligent conduct and the plaintiff's injury, and damages. *Podolan v. Idaho Legal Aid Servs., Inc.*, 123

Idaho 937, 945, 854 P.2d 280, 288 (Ct. App. 1993). “The duty requires the supervisor who knows of the supervisee’s dangerous propensities to control the supervisee so he will not injure third persons.” *Id.* at 946, 854 P.2d at 289.

According to the district court, Bergeman failed to allege that SPS or Elabed owed him any duty or that the tortious acts of an employee were foreseeable. R. 106-107. The court also recognized that Bergeman did not assume the mortgage loan. R. 107. All that is true. The complaint provided no factual allegations whatsoever to support the negligent supervision claim. *See* R. 36-46. In fact, the words “negligent supervision”—or words to that effect—were only used in the heading of Count One. R. 40. Nowhere in the second amended complaint did Bergeman allege that SPS (or any other defendant) supervised an employee, knew or should have known of an employee’s dangerous propensities to harm third parties, owed a duty to protect him from an employee’s dangerous propensities, or failed to exercise due care to protect him from an employee’s dangerous propensities, causing him injury. *See* R. 36-42.

In light of those failures, in his opening brief, Bergeman suggests, without citing any authority, that the district court improperly focused on the relationship between SPS and Elabed, rather than the relationship between SPS and its employees. AOB 17, 18. The district court’s order shows otherwise. *See* R. 106 (recognizing that negligent supervision claim is not based on vicarious liability). Bergeman also states that the court ignored “clear statements” made in the complaint “with respect to the managers and employees of SPS.” AOB 9-10. But, again, the complaint contained no such statements and made no mention of any duty SPS owed to

supervise its employees. Given Bergeman's failure to state a cause of action for negligent supervision, the Court must affirm the district court's dismissal of the claim.

**4. The trespass claim fails because Bergeman did not allege facts to support wrongful foreclosure or eviction or that Elabed was SPS's agent.**

Bergeman's opening brief makes no mention of his trespass claim at all, and as such, he has waived any argument that the district court's dismissal of the claim was in error. *See supra*, p. 10. But even if the Court considers the claim, the district court did not err. Trespass requires a showing that one wrongfully entered the premises and a causal connection between the defendant's alleged wrongful conduct and the plaintiff's injury. *Mueller v. Hill*, 158 Idaho 208, 212-13, 345 P.3d 998, 1002-03 (2015); *Nelson v. Holdaway Land & Cattle Co.*, 107 Idaho 550, 552, 691 P.2d 796, 798 (Ct. App. 1984). "Trespass is a tort against possession committed when one, without permission, interferes with another's exclusive right to possession of the property." *Walter E. Wilhite Revocable Living Tr. v. Nw. Yearly Meeting Pension Fund*, 128 Idaho 539, 549, 916 P.2d 1264, 1274 (1996).

Without specifying which defendant, Bergeman alleged that "these defendants appointed their agents, Silver Creek [sic] Realty and Mohamed Elabed to enter on the premises and to attempt to wrongfully evict the plaintiff and his current tenant thereon." R. 43 (¶ 19). He also alleged that Elabed entered the property and "made numerous threats that he would take possession of the personal property of the plaintiff herein and begin various building projects on the property as a result of the issuance of a bogus trustee's deed." R. 44 (¶ 21). The district court

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